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C h a p t e r

3
FINDING EXISTING DATA: 
FROM PRINT TO INTERNET

L O O K I N G  A H E A D

After reading this chapter, you will know a great deal about finding external data,
which are data that already exist in someone else’s hands. Among other things, you
will learn about:

1. major print sources of business and economic data, which until recently were the only sig-
nificant external data sources,

2. basic Internet concepts to prepare you for finding data the 21st-century way,

3. important data sites on the World Wide Web, including those of U.S. government agencies,
foreign statistical offices, and companies on the year 2000 Fortune 500 list, and

4. a variety of techniques for grabbing data off the Internet and moving them into the work-
sheets of statistical computer applications, such as EXCEL or MINITAB.

AND HERE IS A TYPICAL PROBLEM YOU WILL BE ABLE TO SOLVE:
Visit http://www.whitehouse.gov, a site maintained by the White House. Click Virtual Library �
Contents of this Web site. In the search box, type Council of Economic Advisers and click
Search. Click CEA Home Page � 2000 Economic Report of the President � download
current year statistical tables in spreadsheet format � corporate profit and finance �
common stock prices and yields � xls. The relevant table appears in EXCEL. If you wish, you
can transfer it to MINITAB, with copy-and-paste-cells commands.

P R E V I E W
Most people who are about to study business or economic issues are likely to turn, at least ini-
tially, to data collected by someone else. Until very recently, this meant turning to data avail-
able in print. And most of these printed data, in turn, were collected and published by some
agency of government. There are historical reasons for this state of affairs.
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In every country on earth, the earliest statisticians were interested in collecting and dis-
playing information useful to the state, which is how statistics got its name. These early data
gatherers collected data on births and deaths to aid officials in charge of the military draft.
They collected data on diseases to aid others concerned with the public health. And to facili-
tate the collection of taxes, they collected data on the ownership of land and animals, on
exports and imports, on incomes and expenditures, and more. Indeed, all this has been going
on for a very long time.

As early as 3800 B.C., Babylonians used clay tablets to record agricultural yields and com-
modity trade, along with associated tax revenues. Ancient Egyptians kept track of population
and wealth for similar reasons, and they did so long before the 1st pyramid was built. Books of
the Bible, such as Numbers and Chronicles, have preserved data on the population and material
belongings of the Israelites. No matter when and where you look—at China ca. 2000 B.C., at the
Roman Empire in the 1st century, at the world of William the Conqueror a thousand years
later—governments have always busily collected and published data. The English king just
noted, for instance, cleverly put together the famous Domesday Book of 1086 (pronounced
“Doomsday”—a foreshadowing of April 15 and the IRS?), listing the extent and value of all the
landowners’ estates and livestock that the supreme ruler could then tax. But as a look at
present-day government publications, such as the Statistical Abstract of the United States or the
Economic Report of the President, suggests, that good old tradition of statisticians aiding 
government has certainly not died out. In fact, nowadays we can do a lot better than record a
few precious data on the walls of caves, sticks of wood, dried animal skins, or slabs of stone.
Every government on Earth makes masses of data available to masses of people, not only by
using paper and ink, but also by producing data-filled CD-ROMs for personal computers and,
above all, by maintaining fancy Web sites on the Internet.

The U.S. government, for example, unlike most other governments around the world, does
not have a single, centralized statistical office. Nevertheless, the numerous federal agencies
that collect and publish data are jointly maintaining a single Internet site that can be visited
via http://www.fedstats.gov. When you do, you will encounter the opening screen reproduced as
Figure 3.1 on the following page.

From there you can access statistical data collected by over 70 agencies of the U.S. federal
government. Elsewhere, you can now find similar sites maintained by the governments of other
countries, by international agencies such as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and De-
velopment or the United Nations, and, of course, by an ever-growing number of business enter-
prises throughout the world. In this chapter you will learn where to find those mountains of
data and how to bring them into your favorite computer program for analysis.

3.1 Introduction
On occasion, those who wish to study matters relating to business or economics are lucky
because they already have the relevant data. A business administrator, for example, can simply
search the firm’s internal records for material that already resides in filing cabinets or computer
memories. Thus, customer records would provide names, addresses, telephone numbers, data on
amounts purchased, credit limits, and more. Employee records would provide names, addresses,
job titles, years of service, salaries, Social Security numbers, and even numbers of sick days
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used. Production records would contain lists of products, part numbers, and quantities produced,
along with associated data on labor costs, raw material consumption, and equipment usage. A
government economist could, similarly, access vast databases held by the Bureau of the Census,
the Department of Labor, the Federal Reserve Board, and the Office of Management and
Budget, to name but a few. From the point of view of the business administrator or the govern-
ment economist, respectively, all of the data just mentioned are internal data. They were nat-
urally created as a by-product of the regular activities of the very person, firm, or government
that wants to use the data.

The focus of this chapter, however, is somewhere else. It deals with situations in which in-
vestigators know that relevant data exist, but those data are in the hands of others who might be
persuaded to share them—just for the asking in some cases and for a hefty fee in others. The
chapter, thus, focuses on external data. Such data were created by entities other than the
person, firm, or government that wants to use them. As a student, you are already familiar with
the use of preexisting external data. When writing your next paper, you are unlikely to generate
brand-new information (although you will learn how to do so in the very next chapter). More
likely, you will turn to data gathered by someone else. You will turn to some book or magazine,
place a data-filled CD-ROM in your computer or, perhaps, even search the World Wide Web.

Until recently, data collected by others and made available in print, usually for a fee, have
been the only type of external data. Such data, of course, continue to be available today. The
very next section will identify some sources of them. In the past decade, however, a new and
increasingly important source of external data has emerged. Potentially, the World Wide Web
makes masses of data available to masses of people without the intervention of the printed page.
This represents an enormous change from earlier days—even times as recent as the year of your

FIGURE 3.1 One-Stop Shopping for Federal Statistics
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birth. Thus, it makes sense to devote only a small part of this chapter to finding data in print,
while devoting most of it to a typical 21st-century task: importing data to your computer from
the Internet.

3.2 Finding Data in Print
Table 3.1 lists some of the most useful business and economic data sources that are available in
print. Many of the publishers in question, however, also provide CD-ROMs containing prefor-
matted data files that you can easily transfer to your favorite statistical computer application,
such as EXCEL or MINITAB. More often than not, those CD-ROMs come at a hefty price.

TABLE 3.1 Major Business and Economic Data Sources in Print

U.S. Federal Government

1. U.S. Bureau of the Census, Statistical Abstract of the United States (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Government Printing Office, published annually). Recent editions contain close to 1,500
tables of data. Also very helpful is an appendix containing a Guide to Sources of Statistics,
State Statistical Abstracts, and Foreign Statistical Abstracts.

2. Council of Economic Advisers, Economic Report of the President (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Government Printing Office, published annually). Recent editions contain over 100 tables
of data on all aspects of the economy.

International Organizations

3. International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook (Washington, D.C.: IMF, published
biannually). Recent issues contain about 50 major tables of data on the global economy.

4. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, OECD Economic Surveys (Paris:
OECD, published annually for each of the member countries). Contains numerous tables of
data on all aspects of the economy.

5. United Nations, Human Development Report (New York: Oxford University Press, published
annually). Recent editions contain about 50 major tables of economic and social data.

6. World Bank, World Development Report (New York: Oxford University Press, published
annually). Recent editions contain about 25 major tables of economic and social data.

7. World Bank, World Tables (New York: Oxford University Press, published annually). Contains
standardized data for more than 200 economies.

Other

8. Forbes (a bimonthly magazine). Contains masses of business data. In particular, look for
annually recurring features such as 500 Biggest Private Companies / The Top 800
(executive compensation vs. stock performance) / The International 500 / Mutual Fund
Survey / America’s 400 Richest People / 200 Hot Small Companies / The Platinum List
(America’s best big companies) / The Forbes 500s / Annual Report on American Industry /
The 200 Best Small Companies.

9. Fortune (a bimonthly magazine). Contains masses of business data. In particular, look for
annually recurring features such as The Fortune 500 / America’s Most Admired Companies /
The 100 Best Companies to Work For / The Global 500 / The 100 Fastest-Growing
Companies / The 40 Wealthiest Americans / The Fortune e-50.

10. The Wall Street Journal (a business-day newspaper). Contains masses of data in every
issue.
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3.3 Basic Internet Concepts
This chapter’s introduction referred to the World Wide Web as well as the Internet. Although
many people use the two terms interchangeably, they are not the same thing.

INTERNET VERSUS WORLD WIDE WEB
The Internet is larger than the Web. It consists of millions of computers, called servers, which
are connected by telephone lines. Originally this planetary network of computers facilitated
communication via e-mail, newsgroups, and FTP sites. As you probably know, e-mail involves a
point-to-point transmission of a message in the form of text encoded in standard ASCII and uses
addresses with those .com, .edu, .org, .gov and similar endings. In contrast, newsgroups are
more like community bulletin boards: You post a message to a newsgroup and every member of
the group can read it, while you don’t even have to know who these members are. An FTP (file
transfer protocol) site, finally, enables people to post materials not in text format but as binary
files, which others with correct passwords can download to their computers.

The Internet is enormous, constantly changing, and forever growing. One of its outgrowths
(and, thus, merely a part of it) is the World Wide Web, best seen, perhaps, as an enormous col-
lection of computer files, called Web pages. These Web pages live on computers all over the
world and contain hyperlinks, which, when clicked, cause a program known as a Web browser
to find and display on the screen whatever other document has been specified in the link.

CONVENTIONS GOVERNING THE WEB
The World Wide Web is governed by certain conventions, including a document formatting stan-
dard called hypertext markup language (HTML) and a file-and-location description known as
the universal resource locator (URL). The latter specifies the types of data in a file, the path to
the data, and sometimes even their location within a document. Those who follow these conven-
tions can easily create and share documents regardless of their physical locations and of com-
puter platform and display requirements.

However, no one has to register a new Web page. No central clearinghouse for the ever-
changing and ever-growing volume of Web pages exists. As a result, when you look for data on
the Web, you cannot turn to some up-to-date, accurate index because no one has remotely suc-
ceeded in exhaustively cataloguing the staggering information on hundreds of millions of pages
on the Web. What you can do is seek the help of Web directories and search engines.

SEARCHING THE WEB
So-called Web directories, with names such as Yahoo! and Lycos, Excite and Infoseek, Magel-
lan and Starting Point, are partial indexes that enable you to explore the World Wide Web in
either broad or finely tuned structures by clicking on lists of (someone else’s) key terms again
and again. These maps of cyberland are the creation of actual human beings who develop their
indexes from Web pages that their owners have voluntarily registered. To keep you from being
overwhelmed and help you narrow down your browsing, these editors divide the subject matter
into at most 20 main topics. They link each of the main topics to subtopics, and to further
subtopics, going down as many as 10 levels. But even at their best, these directories help you
explore only a small percentage of existing Web pages.

In contrast, so-called search engines, with names such as AltaVista, HotBot, Internet
Sleuth, NorthernLight, and Webcrawler, allow you to explore the World Wide Web by typing in
key words of your own (rather than clicking on someone else’s key words). No human interven-
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tion here. Search engines employ computer programs, known as spiders or robots (nicknamed
bots) that compile huge indexes of Internet material and then use the indexes to find matches for
search requests made by people seeking to explore the World Wide Web. They then present a list
of hyperlinks to associated bunches of Web pages, called Web sites, containing the key words.
Compared to Web directories, search engines have one advantage: They also look at sites that
their creators have not registered with anyone. On the other hand, they cannot penetrate sites that
are password protected or reside behind a server firewall. Thus, they too cover only a tiny portion
of existing material.

BOOLEAN LOGIC AND SUCH
Searching for information on the Web can be a frustrating experience, even with the help of Web
directories and search engines. You can help yourself by employing Boolean logic. Named after
British mathematician George Boole (1815–1864), it supports efficient searches of the Web
by the careful employment of logical connectors NOT, AND, OR (and sometimes NEAR or
ADJACENT TO) between key words used in search requests.

Thus, if you are looking for information about the Ford Motor Company, merely typing in
Ford is ill advised. The search engine will provide thousands of links not only to the company,
but also to sites dealing with shallow places in bodies of water, the 38th president of the United
States (or his wife), various members of the automobile manufacturer’s family, the British writer
Madox Ford (who examined adulterous relationships), the American filmmaker John Ford (who
won an Academy Award for The Grapes of Wrath), and many more. So, this is what you can do:

� If your request includes two words linked by NOT, the search will drop all documents con-
taining the word following NOT. If you request information about Ford NOT President,
you automatically exclude all sites dealing with the president (or anything else you type
after the word NOT). Unfortunately, using NOT will drop all documents that contain the
second term anywhere. Thus, an auto company document referring to Henry Ford as
company president would be excluded as well.

� If your request includes two words linked by AND, the search will only provide the limited
set of documents that include both words, no matter how far apart. You might try Ford
AND Autos to produce all documents corresponding to what Chapter 8 will call the inter-
section of two events: the joint appearance of Ford and autos in the same document.

� If your request includes two words linked by OR, the search will provide a vast set of doc-
uments containing either word, not necessarily both words at the same time. Calling for
Ford OR Autos, will get you what Chapter 8 will call the union of two events: the appear-
ance of either Ford or autos in any document, not necessarily both words at the same time.

Note: Some search engines allow you to substitute a plus sign (�) for AND and a minus
sign (�) for NOT.

What you can also do—and that is, perhaps, the main advantage of reading this chapter—is
to rely on the experience of others who have searched and found. The various sections of this
chapter let you share some of that experience—with regard to data in print (nowadays often ac-
companied with CD-ROMs), numerous interesting Web sites, and special techniques for grab-
bing data from those sites.

3.4 Finding Data on the World Wide Web
This section identifies selected sources of data on the Web. All of these sources were available at
the time of this writing, but keep in mind that the Web is forever evolving. On occasion, when
you try to contact one of the addresses noted here, things will have changed. 
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TABLE 3.2 Major U.S. Government Data Sources on the Web

Web Address Comments

http://www.fedstats.gov Takes you to the home pages of more than 70 federal
agencies, ranging from the Bureau of Labor Statistics
and the Bureau of the Census to the Environmental
Protection Agency and the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration. In addition, provides results of
periodic censuses, economic profiles by state and
county, and more.

http://www.fedworld.gov The National Technical Information Service’s portal to
all federal government Web sites and millions of files,
containing reports and databases.

http://www.census.gov/sdc/www Takes you to the Web sites of 51 State Data Centers (50
states plus District of Columbia).

http://www.gpo.gov Takes you to the Web site of the Government Printing
Office, where you can note and order all available print
products and also learn about links to documents in
GPO databases.

http://www.sec.gov Takes you to the Web site of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, which, in turn, leads you 
to the EDGAR database of corporate information. 
(EDGAR stands for Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, 
and Retrieval system.)

http://www.house.gov Takes you to the Web site of the U.S. House of
Representatives, with lots of links to data sources.

http://www.senate.gov Takes you to the Web site of the U.S. Senate, with lots
of links to data sources.

http://www.whitehouse.gov Takes you to the Web site of the White House, with lots
of links to data sources, including the Economic Report
of the President.

http://www.federalreserve.gov Takes you to the Web site of the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System, with lots of data and links
to the 12 regional Federal Reserve Bank sites.

U.S. GOVERNMENT SOURCES
Table 3.2 lists the author’s favorite links to business and economic data published by the U.S.
federal government.

Note: Just in case Table 3.2 fails to get you the information you seek, you are almost certain
to find it by visiting http://ciir2.cs.umass.edu/Govbot/, the Center for Intelligent Information Re-
trieval site, which lets you type in key words and search more than 1.5 million Web pages from
U.S. government sites.

FOREIGN GOVERNMENT SOURCES
Table 3.3 lists the author’s favorite links to business and economic data published by well over
100 foreign governments or international organizations around the world. (All of the addresses
are also found on the CD-ROM that accompanies this text. Most of them lead to a home page
in English. A few require you to read French or Spanish.)
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TABLE 3.3 Major Foreign Government Data Sources on the Web

Country Web Address

Algeria http://www.ons.dz/

Andorra http://www.andorra.ad/govern/ministeris/finances/estudis/

Argentina http://www.indec.mecon.ar/i_default.htm

Armenia http://www.armstat.am/

Aruba http://www.arubastatistics.com/

Australia http://www.abs.gov.au/

Austria http://www.oestat.gv.at/

Azerbaijan http://www.azeri.com/goscomstat/

Barbados http://www.bgis.gov.bb/statistics/

Belarus http://president.gov.by/Minstat/en/main.html

Belgium http://www.statbel.fgov.be/

Benin http://planben.intnet.bj/13a/benin.htm

Bolivia http://www.ine.gov.bo/

Brazil http://www.ibge.gov.br/english/default.asp

Bulgaria http://www.nsi.bg/

Cambodia http://www.nis.gov.kh/

Canada http://www.statcan.ca/

Chile http://www.ine.cl/

China http://www.stats.gov.cn/english/index.html

Colombia http://www.dane.gov.co/

Costa Rica http://www.meic.go.cr/inec/

Croatia http://www.dzs.hr/

Cyprus http://www.pio.gov.cy/dsr/index.html

Czech Republic http://www.czso.cz/

Denmark http://www2.dst.dk/internet/startuk.htm
http://www.hagstova.fo/Welcome_uk.html

Dominican Republic http://www.estadistica.gov.do/

Ecuador http://www4.inec.gov.ec/
Egypt http://interoz.com/economygoveg/index.htm

El Salvador http://www.minec.gob.sv/presenta.htm/

Estonia http://www.stat.ee/wwwstat/eng_stat/

European Community http://europa.eu.int/comm/eurostat/

Fiji Islands http://www.statsfiji.gov.fj/

Finland http://www.stat.fi/index_en.html

France http://www.insee.fr/
http://www.ined.fr/

Germany http://www.statistik-bund.de/e_home.htm

Greece http://www.statistics.gr/

Greenland http://www.statgreen.gl/

Guatemala http://www.ine.gob.gt/ (continued)
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TABLE 3.3 Major Foreign Government Data Sources 
on the Web (continued)

Country Web Address

Hong Kong http://www.info.gov.hk/censtatd/

Hungary http://www.ksh.hu/eng/homeng.html

Iceland http://www.stjr.is/statice/Welcome.html

India http://www.censusindia.net/
http://www.nic.in/stat/

Indonesia http://www.bps.go.id/

International Organizations
FAO http://www.fao.org/

IFC http://www.ifc.org

ILO http://www.ilo.org/

IMF http://www.imf.org

OECD http://www.oecd.org/

UN http://www.un.org/Depts/unsd/
http://www.un.org/Pubs/CyberSchoolBus/infonation/e_infonation.htm

World Bank http://www.worldbank.org

Iran http://www.sci.iranet.net/

Ireland http://www.cso.ie/

Israel http://www.cbs.gov.il/engindex.htm

Italy http://www.istat.it/homeing.html

Jamaica http://www.statinja.com/

Japan http://www.stat.go.jp

Jordan http://www.dos.gov.jo/

Kazakhstan http://www.kazstat.asdc.kz/indexe.htm

Korea http://www.nso.go.kr/

Kuwait http://www.mop.gov.kw/english/main0.htm

Kyrgyzstan http://stat-gvc.bishkek.su/

Latvia http://www.csb.lv/
Lebanon http://www.cas.gov.lb/

Lithuania http://www.std.lt/

Luxembourg http://statec.gouvernement.lu/

Macao http://www.dsec.gov.mo/

Malawi http://www.nso.malawi.net/

Malaysia http://www.statistics.gov.my/

Malta http://www.magnet.mt/home/cos/

Marshall Islands http://www.rmiembassyus.org/stats.html

Mauritania http://www.ons.mr

Mauritius http://ncb.intnet.mu/cso.htm

Mexico http://www.inegi.gob.mx/

Moldova http://www.moldova.md/index_en.html
(continued)
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TABLE 3.3 (continued)

Country Web Address

Mongolia http://www.statis.pmis.gov.mn

Morocco http://www.statistic.gov.ma/

Mozambique http://www.ine.gov.mz/

Netherlands http://www.cbs.nl/en/index.htm

New Zealand http://www.govt.nz/ps/min/stats

Norway http://www.ssb.no/www-open/english/

Oman http://www.moneoman.org

Pakistan http://www.statpak.gov.pk

Palestinian Authority http://www.pcbs.org/

Panama http://www.contraloria.gob.pa/direcciones/estycenso/index.htm

Paraguay http://www.dgeec.gov.py/

Peru http://www.inei.gob.pe/

Philippines http://www.census.gov.ph/
http://www.nscb.gov.ph/

Poland http://www.stat.gov.pl/english/index.htm

Portugal http://www.ine.pt/
http://www.ip.pt/srea/

Romania http://www.cns.ro/indexe.htm

Russia http://www.gks.ru/eng/

Saint Lucia http://www.stats.gov.lc/

Singapore http://www.singstat.gov.sg/

Slovakia http://www.statistics.sk/webdata/english/index2_a.htm

Slovenia http://www.sigov.si/zrs/index_e.html

South Africa http://www.statssa.gov.za/

Spain http://www.ine.es/
http://www.istac.rcanaria.es

Sri Lanka http://www.lk/national/census/sl_figures95.html

Sweden http://www.scb.se/indexeng.htm

Switzerland http://www.admin.ch/bfs/eindex.htm

Taiwan http://www.dgbasey.gov.tw/

Thailand http://www.nso.go.th/eng/index.htm

Tunisia http://www.ins.nat.tn/

Turkey http://www.die.gov.tr/ENGLISH/index.html

Ukraine http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/

United Arab Emirates http://www.uae.gov.ae/mop/statistics.htm

United Kingdom http://www.statistics.gov.uk/

Uruguay http://www.ine.gub.uy/

Uzbekistan http://www.gov.uz/mms100fr.html

Venezuela http://www.ocei.gov.ve/

Yugoslavia http://www.szs.sv.gov.yu/homee.htm
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Note: On occasion, the statistical offices of some countries change their Web addresses and
those of other countries add theirs. To get an update, visit http://www.census.gov/main/www/
stat_int.html.

And here is a tip: If you can’t find a specific country listing in Table 3.3, visit the second of
the UN sites listed in the table. This so-called InfoNation site provides neatly organized data for
all UN member states.

FORTUNE 500 COMPANY SOURCES
Table 3.4 provides excerpts from a much larger table on the CD-ROM accompanying this text
and containing data about all Fortune 500 companies on the year 2000 list. Click a Web address
to visit a company’s home page and find additional data. (The list of companies itself, of course,
changes over the years. For an update, visit http://www.fortune.com/fortune/fortune500/
index.html.)

TABLE 3.4 Fortune 500 Company Data Sources on the Web

Company Industry State Web Address

General Motors Motor vehicles and parts MI http://www.gm.com

Ford Motor Motor vehicles and parts MI http://www.ford.com

Wal-Mart Stores General merchandisers AR http://www.wal-mart.com

Exxon Petroleum refining TX http://www.exxon.com

General Electric Electronics/electrical equipment CT http://www.ge.com

Intl. Business Machines Computers/office equipment NY http://www.ibm.com

Citigroup Diversified financials NY http://www.citi.com

Philip Morris Tobacco NY http://www.philipmorris.com/default.asp

Boeing Aerospace WA http://www.boeing.com

AT&T Telecommunications NY http://www.att.com

. . . .

. . . .

H.J. Heinz Food PA http://www.heinz.com

St. Paul Cos. Property and casualty insurance MN http://www.stpaul.com

CBS Entertainment NY http://www.cbs.com

Lear Motor vehicles and parts MI http://www.lear.com

Gap Specialty retailers CA http://www.gap.com

Northwest Airlines Airlines MN http://www.nwa.com

Office Depot Specialty retailers FL http://www.officedepot.com

Colgate-Palmolive Soaps/cosmetics NY http://www.colgate.com

. . . .

. . . .

OTHER INTERESTING DATA SOURCES
The preceding sections have introduced the most obvious data sources that would be of interest
to students of business and economics, but there are many others. Consider this sobering fact: At
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TABLE 3.5 Additional Data Sources on the Web

Web Address Comments

http://netec.wustl.edu/WebEc.html WebEc, an attempt to categorize free infor-
mation about business and economics on
the Web; in particular, see Economics Data 
and Business Economics.

http://rfe.wustl.edu/EconFAQ.html Resources for Economists on the Internet, a
guide sponsored by the American Economic
Association; in particular, see Data.

http://www.economagic.com/ Economagic, a database with over 100,000 
U.S. economic time series. Subscribers can 
get all data in COPY/PASTE format, in the 
form of self-updating EXCEL files, and more.

http://www.lexis-nexis.com/business/ The Lexis-Nexis database tells you every-
thing you want to know about business.

http://web.lexis-nexis.com/statuniv Lexis-Nexis lets you search an index of over
100,000 statistical publications.

http://www.economist.com/ The Economist magazine’s home page; for 
data, click the Economist Intelligence Unit.

http://interactive.wsj.com/home.html The Wall Street Journal can lead you to lots 
of data.

http://www.nytimes.com/yr/mo/day/business/ The New York Times provides business data.

http://www.forbes.com/ The Web site of Forbes magazine provides 
lots of data from current and past print 
editions.

http://www.fortune.com/fortune/ The Web site of Fortune magazine provides 
lots of data from current and past print 
editions.

http://www.nber.org/data_index.html The National Bureau of Economic Research
provides plenty of online data.

http://www.worldwatch.org/ The Worldwatch Institute provides lots of
unusual data series and links to other Web
resources.

http://www.interquote.com/main.html InterQuote provides continuously updating 
real-time market data for stocks, options, 
commodity futures, and more.

(continued)

the time of this writing, the World Wide Web contained an estimated 800 million pages and no
single search engine indexed more than 16 percent of it. (For an update on these measurements,
visit http://www.wwwmetrics.com/.) Ultimately, you have to rely on other people’s recommen-
dations to select your favorite data-providing sites. Table 3.5 puts together a number of other in-
teresting data sources that this author recommends.

Note: You can find still other sources on the CD-ROM that accompanies this text. If you
want to search for additional sites on your own, here is a place to start: http://dir.
yahoo.com/business_and_economy/economic_indicators/.
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3.5 How to Grab Data off the Web
The preceding sections have introduced all kinds of sites at which you might find the data you
care to use. One issue remains: How do you get those data onto the worksheet of your favorite
software application, such as EXCEL or MINITAB?

COPY AND PASTE
The simplest procedure, which will work most of the time, involves nothing more difficult than
the good old copy-and-paste approach.

1. At the Web site where your data are located, select the data you want by clicking at the be-
ginning of the upper left number and, while pressing down the left mouse button, dragging
the screen pointer right or down till you reach the end of the last number you want to grab.
Release the mouse button. The desired block of data should be highlighted. An alternative
approach: Just click at the beginning of the first row of your chosen data, scroll to the end
of the last row you want, hold down Shift, and click at the end of your desired selection.

Note: Often, when you merely want to highlight a single column of data, the high-
lighting still goes across all the columns. To prevent that, and to highlight an individual
column only, hold down the Alt key while you drag.

2. Click Edit � Copy or merely click the Copy button on the toolbar to send the selected
data to the clipboard.

3. In the target application, such as an EXCEL or MINITAB worksheet, click the first cell
wherein you want your data to appear (and thereby activate that cell).

4. Click Edit � Paste or merely click the Paste button on the toolbar to send the selected
data to your worksheet. 

TABLE 3.5 Additional Data Sources on the Web (continued)

Web Address Comments

http://www.hoovers.com/ Hoover’s Online company capsules contain 
lots of data for thousands of U.S. firms; 
click on Hoover’s Industry Sectors.

http://www.irin.com/ The Investor Relations Information Network
provides a worldwide data bank of annual
company reports.

http://www.econ-datalinks.org/ A searchable database sponsored by the
American Statistical Association.

http://www.companiesonline.com Dun & Bradstreet lets you search for infor-
mation on over 100,000 public and private 
companies.

http://www.inc.com/500/ A site devoted to the 500 fastest-growing 
private U.S. companies, with a searchable 
database going back to 1982.

http://www.geoinvestor.com/countryindex.htm An interesting 40-country database.

http://www.mediametrix.com A site devoted to measuring everything 
that happens on the World Wide Web.
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Note: The aforementioned procedure works in EXCEL, but you may have to use Edit � Paste
Cells in MINITAB. If you are pasting text into an application that prefers RTF to plain
text, you may have to use Edit � Paste Special and choose Unformatted text.

POSSIBLE COMPLICATIONS
Sometimes the four-step procedure just discussed does not work. One common reason involves
national differences in the way large numbers and decimals are treated. In the United States, it is
common practice to separate thousands from millions, millions from billions, and so on, with the
help of commas. In other countries, the separation can involve spaces or periods or nothing at all.
Thus, the number one and a half million would appear as 1,500,000 in the United States, but
could look like 1.500.000 or 1 500 000, or even 1500000 elsewhere. Software applications can
easily become confused as a result. EXCEL, for example, is happy with the commas. MINITAB
refuses to accept them. Both programs would balk at 1.500.000 (seeing two decimal points in a
single number) and at 1 500 000 (seeing three separate numbers).

The treatment of decimals can cause similar problems. EXCEL and MINITAB are happy
with 34.67 but would misinterpret the German equivalent of 34,67 (as the two numbers 34 and
67).

Luckily, problems like these can easily be overcome by introducing an additional procedure
after step 2 above:

3a. Instead of pasting your strangely formatted numbers (strange from the U.S. point of view!)
into your worksheet directly, paste them into another application, such as Microsoft Word.

3b. Select your numbers as in step 1 above.

3c. Click Edit � Replace to activate the Find and Replace dialog box.

3d. What you do next depends on the nature of your problem:

If your problem is spaces in the middle of large numbers, enter a space in the Find what box
(just touch the space bar once; the dialog box seems to be unchanged but does in fact contain an
invisible space character). Then enter absolutely nothing in the Replace with box (that is, ignore
the box) and click Replace All. A miracle occurs: Your numbers reconstitute themselves without
the offending spaces. This is what you should expect. You asked that spaces be replaced with
nothing.

If your problem is periods in the middle of large numbers, enter a period in the Find what box.
Then enter absolutely nothing in the Replace with box (that is, ignore the box) and click Replace
All. Your numbers reconstitute themselves without the offending periods.

If your problem is commas instead of periods to indicate decimals, enter a comma in the
Find what box. Then enter a period in the Replace with box and click Replace All. Your numbers
reconstitute themselves with U.S.-type decimal points.

Note: Be careful when using the scary Replace All button. You do not want to replace
spaces or periods or commas anywhere except in your block of selected numbers. If you initially
put the offending numbers into a larger document and then answer one of the queries incorrectly,
you could lose all spaces, periods and commas throughout that larger document. However, if you
do make that error, you can press Ctrl � Z fast to undo everything.

3e. Select your reformatted numbers as in step 1 above; then proceed with original steps 2–4.

SPECIAL PROCEDURES
Sometimes things are too complicated for the copy-and-paste approach. Depending on how data
were put on a Web page originally, all kinds of complications can arise when you try to copy
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them. However, when you encounter problems, help may be close at hand—either on the Web
page containing the data you covet or in the program to which you want to transfer them.

WEB AIDS Frequently, the creators of Web pages lend a helping hand. Consider, for example,
the FedStats site introduced in this chapter’s Preview. If you click Data Access Tools (clearly
visible on page 82), you will learn that Web-based tools allow you to use your browser to view
predefined reports and generate your own tables with data obtained through searches and queries
of summary and microdata files.

The tools provided allow you to select statistical information interactively (for example,
making a selection from a scrollable list on a form), to view the data in a variety of formats in-
cluding HTML tables and graphics, to print data, or to download data into spreadsheets. Most of
the tools require at least Netscape 3.x or Internet Explorer 3.x. Some also require you to have an
up-to-date unzip program.

EXCEL While running EXCEL, click Help, tell the Office Assistant you want to “retrieve data
from a Web page,” and click Search. Read the advice. To get more advice, click the upper left
Show button on the Help page, click Contents � Using EXCEL to Work with Data on the
Web. There you will find a lengthy tutorial on the subject. Among other things, you can learn
about EXCEL’s Web Query approach, which allows you to specify which part of a Web page you
want to copy and, with some exceptions, how much formatting you want to keep. All you have
to do is click Data � Get External Data � New Web Query and follow the directions in the
dialog box. Usually, you can have your Web data in moments.

MINITAB While running MINITAB, click Help � Contents � Search, type “importing: data”
and click Display. Read the information. To learn more, click Overview. As you will see by fol-
lowing all the links, MINITAB’s capabilities are vast. You can import data from database files by
clicking File � Query Database, which activates the open database connectivity (ODBC) proto-
col. You can import data from some applications by clicking File � Import Special Text. This
enables you to tell MINITAB how to interpret characters and lines and, thus, to place data into
cells correctly. And you can even use the dynamic data exchange (DDE) approach, which estab-
lishes a link with another application such that any change of data in the source application auto-
matically updates data in MINITAB.

Summary
1. On occasion, those who wish to study issues relating

to business or economics are lucky because relevant
data are already in their possession. They can simply
mine their internal data sources. This chapter,
however, focuses on external data sources, on situa-
tions in which investigators know that relevant data
exist, but these data are in the hands of others who
might be persuaded to share them.

2. Until recently, data collected by others and made
available in print, usually for a fee, were the only type
of external data. Major print sources of such external
business and economic data are reviewed.

3. Nowadays, a part of the Internet, known as the World

Wide Web, has the potential to make masses of data
available to masses of people—without the interven-
tion of the printed page. To facilitate an understanding
of this revolutionary change, basic Internet concepts
are reviewed.

4. Business and economic data on the World Wide Web
can be found in many places. A number of important
sites are introduced, including those of U.S. govern-
ment agencies, of foreign statistical offices, and of all
the companies on a recent Fortune 500 list.

5. A variety of techniques are discussed for grabbing
data off the Internet and moving them into the work-
sheets of statistical computer applications. The sim-
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plest of these procedures is the copy-and-paste ap-
proach, but some data have to be reformatted before

they can be imported into programs such as EXCEL
or MINITAB.

Key Terms

Practice Problems
NOTES

Boolean logic
bots
e-mail
external data
FTP site
hyperlinks
hypertext markup language (HTML)

universal resource locator (URL) 
Web Browser
Web directories
Web pages
Web sites
World Wide Web

internal data
Internet
newsgroups
robots
search engines
servers
spiders

1. All of this chapter’s problems assume that you are
connected to the Internet. Some may require the free
Adobe Acrobat Reader to view PDF files. To down-
load it, visit http://www.adobe.com/products/
acrobat/readstep.html.

2. Many problems require the use of EXCEL or
MINITAB, depending on your version of the text.
(The latter program is found on the CD-ROM pack-
aged with the MINITAB version of this text.) The
program’s major features are explained in text

Chapter 2. Plenty of additional advice is available
via the program’s built-in Help feature.

3. Web sites are forever evolving. The addresses noted
in these problems, and the solutions described on the
accompanying CD-ROM, were current at the start of
2001. If things have changed in the meantime, you
can still learn much about finding and retrieving
data by solving a slightly different problem in a
slightly different way.

SECTION 3.4 FINDING DATA ON THE WORLD WIDE WEB

SECTION 3.5 HOW TO GRAB DATA OFF THE WEB

program pastes all data into a single column
initially, you can select and copy portions of
that column successively and paste them into
separate columns.)

2. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies and explore the manifold
sources of U.S. federal government statistics.
Make a list of five agencies that supply data to
this site.

b. Click on Bureau of Labor Statistics �
Data � Selective Access � National Employ-
ment, Hours, and Earnings. Then answer the
queries in succession, choosing Seasonally Ad-

1. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies and explore the manifold
sources of U.S. federal government statistics.
Make a list of five agencies that supply data to
this site.

b. Click on Bureau of Economic Analysis �
Regional Data � Gross state product 
(GSP) � Current-dollar GSP. Then capture
all the data (in millions of current dollars) for
the United States as a whole, Alabama, Alaska,
Arizona, Arkansas, and California.

c. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If the
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justed, Women Workers (in 1000s), Manufac-
turing, Years 1990–2000, Format Table, Delim-
iters Spaces, and so on. Click on the Retrieve
data button.

c. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If the
program pastes all data into a single column
initially, you can select and copy portions of
that column successively and paste them into
separate columns.)

3. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies � Bureau of Transporta-
tion Statistics � Commodity Flow Survey 
� Reports and Products � 1997 Commodity
Flow Survey, then download a spreadsheet to
your desktop showing the 1997 value of state-
to-state commodity flows (in million dollars).

b. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB.

4. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies � Bureau of the Census.
Under Business, click Foreign Trade � Statis-
tics � Country by 1-Digit SITC � 1999 
� Australia � Year to Date. Capture that
year’s U.S. exports to and imports from Aus-
tralia (in million dollars).

b. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: Some-
times, when a program insists on placing a
small but badly formatted table into a single
column, you can paste it repeatedly into several
columns and then erase irrelevant material in
each column.)

5. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies � Energy Information
Administration � Historical Data. In the
Summary Data box, double-click Monthly
Energy Review. Then click Database �
Energy Overview � Go Get It. Capture the
annual data on energy exports, imports, net
imports, production, and consumption.

b. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If the
program pastes all data into a single column
initially, you can select and copy portions of

that column successively and paste them into
separate columns.)

6. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies � National Agricultural
Statistics Service � Census of Agriculture �
Rankings of Commodities by Market Value
of Agricultural Sales � Iowa. Capture the
commodity data on farms, sales, and so forth.

b. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If the
program pastes all data into a single column
initially, you can select and copy portions of
that column successively and paste them into
separate columns.)

7. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Agencies � National Agricultural
Statistics Service � Online Database �
County Data � Apple Production �
Pennsylvania � Submit Request. Download
the data for 1998 apple production, saving
them, perhaps, on your desktop.

b. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If neces-
sary, use Windows Explorer to locate the
download file and double-click on it.)

8. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on Programs and explore the manifold
sources of U.S. federal government statistics.
Make a list of five programs that supply data to
this site.

b. Click on National Accounts � Foreign In-
vestment Accounts � Foreign direct invest-
ment in the U.S. Then capture 3 years of data
on different countries’ direct invest position (in
millions of dollars on a historical cost basis).

c. Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: If the
program pastes all data into a single column
initially, you can select and copy portions of
that column successively and paste them into
separate columns.)

9. Visit http://www.fedstats.gov, a site maintained by
the Interagency Council on Statistical Policy.

a. Click on MapStats � Alabama � State level
only � Get Profile � 1992 Economic Census.
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Then capture Alabama data on number of es-
tablishments, sales, and so on.

b Move the data into your favorite software
program, EXCEL or MINITAB. (Tip: Some-
times, when a program insists on placing a
small but badly formatted table into a single
column, you can paste it repeatedly into several
columns and then erase irrelevant material in
each column.)

10. Visit http://www.sec.gov, a site maintained by the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Click En-
forcement Division � Insider Trading and find
out all there is to know about bounties you can earn
for reporting insider trading.

11. Visit http://www.whitehouse.gov, a site maintained
by the White House. Click Virtual Library �
Contents of this Website. In the search box, type
Council of Economic Advisers and click Search.
Click CEA Home Page � 2000 Economic Report
of the President � download current year statis-
tical tables in spreadsheet format � corporate
profit and finance � common stock prices and
yields � xls. The relevant table appears in EXCEL.
If you wish, you can transfer it to MINITAB, with
copy-and-paste-cells commands.

12. Visit http://www.federalreserve.gov, a site main-
tained by the Federal Reserve Board. Click
General Information � Related Web
Sites/Federal Reserve Banks � St. Louis �
Data � Monthly Interest Rates � Update File.
Then ask for, and paste into your favorite computer
program, EXCEL or MINITAB: the federal funds
rate, the bank prime loan rate, the 6-month Treasury
bill rate (auction average), and the 30-year conven-
tional mortgage rate.

13. Visit http://www.ons.dz, a site maintained by
Algeria’s Office National des Statistiques. Find data
about the country’s agricultural production in recent
years.

14. Visit http://www.indec.mecon.ar/i_default.htm, a
site maintained by Argentina’s National Institute of
Statistics and Censuses. Find data about the
country’s foreign trade in recent years.

15. Visit http://www.statbel.fgov.be, a site maintained
by the Belgian National Institute of Statistics. Find
data about output price indexes in recent years.

16. Visit http://www.statcan.ca, a site maintained by
Statistics Canada. Find data about the country’s raw
material prices in recent years.

17. Visit http://europa.eu.int/comm/eurostat, a site
maintained by the European Community. Find out
all you can about available databases.

18. Visit http://www.insee.fr, a site maintained by
France’s National Institute of Statistics and Eco-
nomic Studies (INSEE). Identify the country’s
largest corporations, their sales, number of employ-
ees, and so forth.

19. Visit http://www.statistik-bund.de/e_home.htm, a
site maintained by Germany’s Federal Statistical
Office. Find out about the makeup of the country’s
tax revenues.

20. Visit http://www.oecd.org, a site maintained by the
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Devel-
opment (OECD). Find out about the availability of
statistical publications in computer readable
formats.

21. Visit http://www.sci.iranet.net, a site maintained by
the Statistical Center of Iran. Find out about Iran’s
production of different oil products in recent years.

22. Visit http://www.cbs.gov.il/engindex.htm, a site
maintained by Israel’s Central Bureau of Statistics.
Find out about the site’s downloadable zipped files
that can be transferred into spreadsheets.

23. Visit http://www.stat.go.jp, a site maintained by the
Japanese Statistics Bureau. Find out about the avail-
ability of computer readable media.

24. Visit http://www.kazstat.asdc.kz/indexe.htm, a site
maintained by the National StatisticalAgency of
Kazakhstan. Find out about the extent of privatization.

25. Visit http://www.inegi.gob.mx, a site maintained by
Mexico’s National Institute of Statistics, Geography,
and Informatics. Find out about the recent behavior
of the Mexican stock market.

26. Visit http://www.gks.ru/eng/, a site maintained by
the Russian State Committee for Statistics. Find out
about the recent structure of Russia’s exports by
major commodities.

27. Visit http://www.statssa.gov.za, a site maintained by
Statistics South Africa. Find out about the recent be-
havior of the country’s producer prices.

28. Visit http://www.statistics.gov.uk/, a site maintained
by the United Kingdom’s Office for National Statis-
tics. Find out about StatBase, an online data delivery
system.

29. Visit http://www.gm.com, a site maintained by
General Motors. Find out about the company’s Hun-
garian operations.
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30. Visit http://www.ford.com, a site maintained by
Ford. Find out about the company’s worldwide op-
erations.

31. Visit http://www.exxon.com, a site maintained by
Exxon. Find out about the behavior of the
company’s dividend payments in recent years.

32. Visit http://www.ge.com, a site maintained by
General Electric. Find out about the behavior of the
company’s mutual funds in recent times.

33. Visit http://www.boeing.com, a site maintained by
Boeing. Find out about recent orders and deliveries
of commercial jets.

34. Visit http://www.att.com, a site maintained by
AT&T. Find out about the recent behavior of Dow
Jones Industrial Average components (of which
AT&T stock is one).

35. Visit http://www.lear.com, a site maintained by Lear.
Find out about the recent value of the company’s
stock, the number of shares outstanding, and the
market cap.

36. Visit http://www.nwa.com, a site maintained by
Northwest Airlines. Find out about the company’s
revenues, expenses, and profits, as listed in its latest
quarterly report filed with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission.

37. Visit http://www.officedepot.com, a site maintained
by Office Depot. Find out about the company’s
recent sales, number of stores, their locations around
the world, and so forth.

38. Visit http://www.colgate.com, a site maintained by
Colgate-Palmolive. Find out about the company’s
net income and earnings per share during the past
decade.

39. Visit http://www.monsanto.com, a site maintained
by Monsanto. Find out about the company’s recent
revenues (in millions of dollars) from different types
of pharmaceuticals. (In 1999, the company’s arthri-
tis medication Celebrex set industry records on total
prescription volume, refills, and cumulative days of
patient use.)

40. Visit http://www.sch-plough.com, a site maintained
by Schering-Plough. Find a copy of the company’s
latest balance sheet.

41. Visit http://www.oracle.com, a site maintained by
Oracle. Find copies of the company’s income state-
ments for recent fiscal periods.

42. Visit http://rfe.wustl.edu/EconFAQ.html, a site spon-
sored by the American Economic Association. Find
annual data for Moody’s corporate bond yield aver-
ages.

43. Visit http://www.economagic.com, a site maintained
by Economagic. Find a time series of the NASDAQ
Composite Index.

44. Visit http://www.nytimes.com/yr/mo/day/business, a
site maintained by The New York Times. Find out
about the current activity at the American Stock Ex-
change.

45. Visit http://www.forbes.com, a site maintained by
Forbes magazine. Find the latest list of Forbes 500
companies, ranked by market value.

46. Visit http://www.fortune.com, a site maintained by
Fortune magazine. Find the latest list of Fortune
500 companies and identify pharmaceutical
companies, along with their revenues, profits, and
so forth.

47. Visit http://www.nber.org/data_index.html, a site
maintained by the National Bureau of Economic Re-
search. Find out all you can about its online eco-
nomic data available for downloading.

48. Visit http://www.worldwatch.org, a site maintained
by the Worldwatch Institute. Find out all you can
about its downloadable data sets.

49. Visit http://www.irin.com, a site maintained by the
Investor Relations Information Network. Find out
all you can about the behavior of the stock of Adobe
Systems during the past three years.

50. Visit http://www.inc.com/500, a site maintained by
Inc.com. Find a list of America’s fastest growing
private companies for the most recent available year.


